# **Bootstrapping Closed Hyperbolic Surfaces**

James Bonifacio\*

Department of Applied Mathematics and Theoretical Physics, University of Cambridge, Wilberforce Road, Cambridge CB3 0WA, U.K.

#### Abstract

The eigenvalues of the Laplace–Beltrami operator and the integrals of products of eigenfunctions and holomorphic s-differentials satisfy certain consistency conditions on closed hyperbolic surfaces. These consistency conditions can be derived by using spectral decompositions to write quadruple overlap integrals in terms of triple overlap integrals in different ways. We show how to efficiently construct these consistency conditions and use them to derive upper bounds on eigenvalues, following the approach of the conformal bootstrap. As an example of such a bootstrap bound, we find a numerical upper bound on the spectral gap of closed orientable hyperbolic surfaces that is nearly saturated by the Bolza surface.

 $<sup>\</sup>verb|*james.j.bonifacio@gmail.com|\\$ 

# Contents

1	Introduction 2				
2	Ten	Tensors in two dimensions			
	2.1	Topology and coordinates	4		
	2.2	Symmetric tensors	5		
	2.3	Covariant derivatives and holomorphic $s$ -differentials	6		
	2.4	Tensor decompositions	6		
	2.5	Laplacians	7		
	2.6	Spectral decompositions	8		
	2.7	Triple overlap integrals	9		
3	Cor	nsistency conditions	10		
	3.1	Norms	10		
	3.2	Triple products	10		
	3.3	Quadruple products	11		
4 Eigenvalue bounds		envalue bounds	13		
	4.1	Bootstrap equations	13		
	4.2	Bounds on the spectral gap	15		
5	Cor	nclusions	17		
R	References 18				

# 1 Introduction

Hyperbolic surfaces are important objects in several areas of physics and mathematics, including quantum gravity, number theory, and topology. We can write the Riemann tensor on a hyperbolic surface  $(\mathcal{M}, \hat{g})$  as

$$R_{pqrs} = \kappa \left( \hat{g}_{pr} \hat{g}_{qs} - \hat{g}_{ps} \hat{g}_{qr} \right), \tag{1.1}$$

where the negative constant  $\kappa$  is the Gaussian curvature, which we henceforth normalise to -1. A well-established approach to investigating closed hyperbolic surfaces is through the spectral theory of the Laplace–Beltrami operator  $\Delta$ —see, for example, Ref. [1] for an introduction to this subject. The Laplace–Beltrami operator on a closed hyperbolic surface is a nonnegative elliptic operator with eigenfunctions  $\phi_i$ ,  $i=0,1,2,\ldots$ , which satisfy the eigenvalue equation  $\Delta\phi_i=\lambda_i\phi_i$ . The discrete eigenvalues  $\lambda_i$  satisfy

$$0 = \lambda_0 < \lambda_1 \le \lambda_2 \le \dots \to \infty, \tag{1.2}$$

where we assume that the surface is connected so that  $\lambda_0$  is the unique zero eigenvalue.

An important spectral quantity is the first nonzero eigenvalue  $\lambda_1$ , which is called the spectral gap. Various bounds are known on the spectral gap. For example, the Yang-Yau bound [2], with an improvement pointed out in Ref. [3], implies that on a closed orientable hyperbolic surface of genus g

 $\lambda_1 \le \frac{2\lfloor (g+3)/2 \rfloor}{g-1}.\tag{1.3}$ 

In particular, this implies that  $\lambda_1 \leq 4$ , since  $g \geq 2$  for a closed hyperbolic surface. It has been conjectured that the maximum value of the spectral gap is achieved by the Bolza surface [4], which is a genus-2 surface with  $\lambda_1 \approx 3.839$ . This surface is the closed genus-2 surface with the largest symmetry group and can be obtained by identifying opposite sides of a regular octagon in the hyperbolic disk. The Bolza surface has been studied by physicists in the context of quantum chaos [5] (see also Ref. [6] for recent results on chaos in the spectra of genus-3 Riemann surfaces). Recently, a bound stronger than the Yang-Yau bound was obtained for closed hyperbolic surfaces with g=3 [7], while improved bounds were found for almost all other genera in Ref. [8]. It has long been known that the spectral gap is bounded above by a constant that approaches 1/4 as  $g \to \infty$  [9], but it was only recently shown that there exists a sequence of surfaces with  $\lambda_1 \to 1/4$  and  $g \to \infty$  [10]. While  $\lambda_1$ —and, more strongly,  $\lambda_{2g-3}$ —can be arbitrarily small [11], there does exist a nonzero lower bound on the generic value of  $\lambda_1$  as  $g \to \infty$ . For example, for any  $\epsilon > 0$ , the probability that a surface has  $\lambda_1 > 3/16 - \epsilon$  goes to one as  $g \to \infty$ , according to the normalised Weil-Petersson measure on moduli space [12, 13].

One way to obtain bounds on eigenvalues and integrals of products of eigenfunctions is using a bootstrap approach [14, 15]. This approach is inspired by the conformal bootstrap for conformal field theories (CFTs) [16, 17] (see Ref. [18] for a review of the numerical conformal bootstrap). These bounds have an interpretation as constraints on the masses and coupling constants of Kaluza–Klein (KK) modes in theories with compact extra dimensions. As explained below, these bounds are obtained from certain consistency conditions that can be derived by using spectral decompositions to write quadruple overlap integrals of derivatives of Laplacian eigenmodes in different ways. For Ricci-flat manifolds, these consistency conditions can also be obtained by considering amplitudes of KK gravitons [22]. In Ref. [15], consistency conditions for closed hyperbolic manifolds in general dimensions were obtained from integrals of products of a scalar eigenfunction with up to 16 derivatives. In this paper, we show how to go much further by specialising to two dimensions. By using helicity tensors, we can derive consistency conditions for closed hyperbolic surfaces coming from quadruple overlap integrals with arbitrarily many derivatives and involving both eigenfunctions and holomorphic s-differentials. These are analogous to the crossing equations for mixed correlators and correlators of spinning bosonic operators in the conformal bootstrap [24–26].

Once we have a set of consistency conditions, we can use them to derive bounds on eigenvalues

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>A different mathematical context in which bootstrap ideas are useful is sphere packing [19, 20].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>Spectral decompositions have also recently been shown to be useful in the context of the modular bootstrap [21].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>See also Ref. [23] for some recent bounds on Laplacian eigenvalues with motivation from Kaluza–Klein theory.

and integrals of products of eigenfunctions by following the approach of the conformal bootstrap. For example, in Ref. [15] we obtained the following bound for consecutive nonzero eigenvalues of the Laplace–Beltrami operator on closed orientable hyperbolic surfaces:

$$\lambda_{i+1} \le 1/2 + 3\lambda_i + \sqrt{\lambda_i^2 + 2\lambda_i + 1/4}, \quad i \ge 1.$$
 (1.4)

When we consider consistency conditions coming from integrals of products of holomorphic s-differentials, it also becomes possible to find an upper bound on the spectral gap. For example, in this work, we show that by considering consistency conditions coming from the quadruple overlap integrals of two distinct holomorphic differentials we can obtain the nonrigorous numerical upper bound

$$\lambda_1 < 3.8388977,$$
 (1.5)

which is remarkably close to the spectral gap of the Bolza surface  $\lambda_1 \approx 3.8388873$  [4]. This provides evidence for the conjecture that the Bolza surface has the largest spectral gap of any closed hyperbolic surface [4]. As this work was nearing completion, we became aware of an upcoming paper that has some overlap with ours [27], including a version of the bound in Eq. (1.5) that is derived using more rigorous numerical methods. We recommend reading Ref. [27] as well.

The outline of the rest of this paper is as follows: in Section 2, we review a formalism for describing tensors of definite helicity in two dimensions and discuss tensor spectral decompositions and triple overlap integrals. In section 3, we show how this formalism makes it easier to derive consistency conditions coming from quadruple overlap integrals involving multiple eigenfunctions and holomorphic s-differentials. In Section 4, we give some examples of bootstrap bounds on the spectral gap that can be derived using these consistency conditions. We conclude in Section 5.

# 2 Tensors in two dimensions

We begin by reviewing some properties of helicity tensors on two-dimensional closed hyperbolic manifolds. See Refs. [28–30] for uses of this formalism in the context of string perturbation theory.

# 2.1 Topology and coordinates

We consider a closed hyperbolic manifold  $(\mathcal{M}, \hat{g})$  with curvature  $\kappa = -1$ , where  $\hat{g}_{pq}$  is the metric. Our manifolds are also always assumed to be smooth, orientable, and connected. Topologically, a closed surface is classified by its genus  $g \in \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$ . Closed surfaces with  $g \geq 2$  admit hyperbolic metrics and on a closed surface of genus g there is a moduli space of hyperbolic structures, i.e., hyperbolic metrics modulo diffeomorphisms, of real dimension 6(g-1). By the Gauss–Bonnet theorem, the volume of a hyperbolic surface of genus g is  $V = 4\pi(g-1)$ .

In a neighbourhood of every point, there exist isothermal coordinates  $x_p$ , p = 1, 2, such that the line element takes the form

$$ds^2 = e^{2\sigma} \delta_{pq} dx^p dx^q. (2.1)$$

The Ricci scalar in these coordinates is  $R = -2e^{-2\sigma}(\partial_1^2 + \partial_2^2)\sigma$ . We can define the complex coordinates  $z = x^1 + ix^2$ ,  $\bar{z} = x^1 - ix^2$  and the derivatives  $\partial_z = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_1 - i\partial_2)$ ,  $\partial_{\bar{z}} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_1 + i\partial_2)$ . The line element in these coordinates is

$$ds^2 = e^{2\sigma} dz d\bar{z},\tag{2.2}$$

and the Ricci scalar is  $R = -8e^{-2\sigma}\partial_z\partial_{\bar{z}}\sigma$ .

# 2.2 Symmetric tensors

Given a tensor component in complex coordinates, we can always trade it for a tensor component with only z indices at the expense of introducing factors of  $\hat{g}_{z\bar{z}}$  and  $\hat{g}^{z\bar{z}}$ . This means that we can restrict to tensors with only z indices. The helicity of a tensor is then defined as the number of upstairs z indices minus the number of downstairs z indices. Define the one-dimensional complex vector bundle  $\mathcal{T}^s$  as the space of all smooth helicity-s tensors for  $s \in \mathbb{Z}$ . We can define an inner product on  $\mathcal{T}^s$  as

$$\langle T, T' \rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV(\hat{g}_{z\bar{z}})^s (T^{z...z})^* T'^{z...z}, \qquad (2.3)$$

where dV denotes the Riemannian volume form of  $(\mathcal{M}, \hat{g})$ . For simplicity, we write  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle$  rather than  $\langle \cdot, \cdot \rangle_s$ , since the helicity of the arguments of the inner product should be clear whenever this is important. The corresponding norm is denoted by  $\|\cdot\|$ .

Define  $S^s$  as the space of real, symmetric, traceless rank-s tensors on  $(\mathcal{M}, \hat{g})$  with  $s \geq 1$ . The nonvanishing components of a symmetric traceless tensor  $T \in S^s$  are

$$T_{z...z} = \frac{1}{2} (T_{1...1} - iT_{1...12}),$$
 (2.4)

$$T_{\bar{z}...\bar{z}} = (\hat{g}_{z\bar{z}})^s T^{z...z} = \frac{1}{2} (T_{1...1} + iT_{1...12}),$$
 (2.5)

and these components are related by complex conjugation,  $T_{z...z} = (T_{\bar{z}...\bar{z}})^*$ . Thus the complexification of  $S^s$  is  $T^s \oplus T^{-s}$  and the embedding of  $S^s$  in  $T^s \oplus T^{-s}$  is given by

$$T_{p_1 p_2 \dots p_s} \mapsto \begin{pmatrix} (\hat{g}^{z\bar{z}})^s (T_{z \dots z})^* \\ T_{z \dots z} \end{pmatrix}. \tag{2.6}$$

Under this embedding, the canonical inner product on real symmetric tensors reduces to twice the real part of the inner product (2.3),

$$(T, T') := \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \, T^{p_1 \dots p_s} T'_{p_1 \dots p_s} = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \, (\hat{g}_{z\bar{z}})^s \left[ (T^{z \dots z})^* T'^{z \dots z} + T^{z \dots z} (T'^{z \dots z})^* \right]$$
 (2.7)

$$= 2\operatorname{Re}\langle T, T'\rangle, \quad s \ge 1. \tag{2.8}$$

#### 2.3 Covariant derivatives and holomorphic s-differentials

We can define two covariant derivatives acting on each space of helicity tensors [28]

$$\nabla_s^z : \mathcal{T}^s \to \mathcal{T}^{s+1}, \quad T^{z\dots z} \mapsto \nabla_s^z T^{z\dots z} = g^{z\bar{z}} \partial_{\bar{z}} T^{z\dots z}, \tag{2.9}$$

$$\nabla_z^s : \mathcal{T}^s \to \mathcal{T}^{s-1}, \quad T^{z\dots z} \mapsto \nabla_z^s T^{z\dots z} = (g^{z\bar{z}})^s \partial_z \left[ (g_{z\bar{z}})^s T^{z\dots z} \right], \tag{2.10}$$

which agree with the components of the ordinary covariant derivative in complex coordinates. The formal adjoint of  $\nabla_s^z$  with respect to the inner product in Eq. (2.3) is  $(\nabla_s^z)^{\dagger} = -\nabla_z^{s+1}$ . To simplify notation, we will often drop the helicity labels on the covariant derivatives when it is clear what bundles they act on. We also write  $\nabla$  and  $\bar{\nabla}$  for the coordinate-free expressions of  $\nabla_z$  and  $\nabla^z$ , respectively. A useful formula for the commutator of two covariant derivatives is

$$[\nabla^z, \nabla_z] : \mathcal{T}^s \to \mathcal{T}^s, \quad T^{z...z} \mapsto sT^{z...z}.$$
 (2.11)

Let us mention the connection between symmetric, transverse, traceless tensors and holomorphic s-differentials. This connects the approach of the present paper to that of Ref. [15]. A real, symmetric, traceless tensor  $T \in \mathcal{S}^s$  is transverse if  $\nabla^{p_1} T_{p_1...p_s} = 0$ . For  $s \geq 2$ , the helicity components of such a tensor satisfy

$$\nabla^z T_{zz...z} = \nabla^{\bar{z}} T_{\bar{z}\bar{z}...\bar{z}} = 0 \implies \partial_z T_{\bar{z}...\bar{z}} = \partial_{\bar{z}} T_{z...z} = 0, \tag{2.12}$$

which implies that  $T_{z...z}$  is holomorphic and  $T_{\bar{z}...\bar{z}}$  is anti-holomorphic. A holomorphic tensor  $T_{z...z} \in \mathcal{T}^{-s}$  is called a holomorphic s-differential (or a holomorphic differential when s=1 and a holomorphic quadratic differential when s=2). The Riemann–Roch theorem implies that the vector space of holomorphic s-differentials with  $s \geq 2$  has complex dimension (2s-1)(g-1) on a closed surface of genus  $g \geq 2$ . The helicity components of a real transverse vector satisfy  $\nabla_z T^z + \nabla^z T_z = 0$ . This does not imply that  $T_z$  is a holomorphic differential since, in addition to the holomorphic part, such a vector can have a longitudinal component  $i\partial_z \phi$ . On a closed surface of genus g, the complex vector space of holomorphic differentials has dimension g.

#### 2.4 Tensor decompositions

We now discuss some orthogonal decompositions for helicity tensors. Consider the covariant derivative  $\nabla_z^{-s+1}: \mathcal{T}^{-s+1} \to \mathcal{T}^{-s}$  for  $s \geq 1$ . It has adjoint  $(\nabla_z^{-s+1})^{\dagger} = -\nabla_{-s}^z$ , whose kernel consists of holomorphic s-differentials. Since  $\nabla_z^{-s+1}$  is a linear elliptic operator, we have the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathcal{T}^{-s} = \ker((\nabla_z^{-s+1})^{\dagger}) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\nabla_z^{-s+1}) = \ker(\nabla_z^{-s}) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\nabla_z^{-s+1}). \tag{2.13}$$

This means that we can write any  $T^{(-s)} \in \mathcal{T}^{-s}$  as

$$T_{z...z}^{(-s)} = \tilde{T}_{z...z}^{(-s)} + \nabla_z^{-s+1} T_{z...z}^{(-s+1)}, \tag{2.14}$$

where  $\tilde{T}^{(-s)}$  is a holomorphic s-differential and  $T^{(-s+1)} \in \mathcal{T}^{-s+1}$ . Applying this repeatedly gives the orthogonal decomposition

$$T_{z...z}^{(-s)} = \sum_{j=0}^{s-1} (\nabla_z)^j \tilde{T}_{z...z}^{(-s+j)} + (\nabla_z)^s T^{(0)},$$
(2.15)

where  $\tilde{T}^{(-k)}$  is a holomorphic k-differential,  $T^{(0)} \in \mathcal{T}^0$  is a smooth function, and  $(\nabla_z)^j$  stands for  $\nabla_z$  applied j times.<sup>4</sup>

Similarly, for  $s \geq 1$  the linear elliptic operator  $\nabla^z_{s-1}: \mathcal{T}^{s-1} \to \mathcal{T}^s$  has the formal adjoint  $-\nabla^s_z$ , whose kernel consists of tensors  $T^{z\dots z}$  such that  $T_{\bar{z}\dots\bar{z}}=(\hat{g}_{z\bar{z}})^sT^{z\dots z}$  is antiholomorphic. From the orthogonal decomposition

$$\mathcal{T}^s = \ker((\nabla_{s-1}^z)^{\dagger}) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\nabla_{s-1}^z) = \ker(\nabla_z^s) \oplus \operatorname{Im}(\nabla_{s-1}^z), \tag{2.17}$$

we can write any  $T^{(s)} \in \mathcal{T}^s$  as

$$T^{(s)z...z} = \tilde{T}^{(s)z...z} + \nabla_{s-1}^{z} T^{(s-1)z...z}, \tag{2.18}$$

where  $\tilde{T}^{(s)}$  is in the kernel of  $\nabla_z^s$  and  $T^{(s-1)} \in \mathcal{T}^{s-1}$ . Applying this repeatedly gives the orthogonal decomposition

$$T^{(s)z...z} = \sum_{j=0}^{s-1} (\nabla^z)^j \tilde{T}^{(s-j)z...z} + (\nabla^z)^s T^{(0)},$$
(2.19)

where  $\tilde{T}^{(k)}$  is in the kernel of  $\nabla_z^k$  and  $T^{(0)} \in \mathcal{T}^0$ .

# 2.5 Laplacians

We can define two Laplacians on helicity tensors,

$$\Delta^{(+)} := -2\nabla_z \nabla^z, \quad \Delta^{(-)} := -2\nabla^z \nabla_z, \tag{2.20}$$

where we leave implicit the helicity of the tensors on which these operators act. When acting on  $\mathcal{T}^s$ , Eq. (2.11) gives

$$\Delta^{(+)} - \Delta^{(-)} = 2s. \tag{2.21}$$

Let us see how these Laplacians act on the terms appearing in the tensor decompositions considered above. Firstly, we can decompose any  $L^2$ -normalisable function in terms of eigenfunctions of the Laplace–Beltrami operator  $\Delta$ . For an eigenfunction  $\phi_i$  of  $\Delta$  with eigenvalue  $\lambda_i$ , we have

$$\Delta \phi_i = \Delta^{(\pm)} \phi_i = \lambda_i \phi_i. \tag{2.22}$$

$$T_{z...z}^{(-s)} = \tilde{T}_{z...z}^{(-s)} + \nabla_z^{-s+1} \tilde{T}_{z...z}^{(-s+1)} + \dots + \nabla_z^{-s+1} \nabla_z^{-s+2} \dots \nabla_z^{-1} \tilde{T}_z^{(-1)} + \nabla_z^{-s+1} \nabla_z^{-s+2} \dots \nabla_z^{0} T^{(0)}.$$
 (2.16)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup>This should not be confused with  $\nabla_z^j$ , which is one of the covariant derivatives acting on  $\mathcal{T}^j$ . The expanded form of Eq. (2.15) is

This tells us how the Laplacians  $\Delta^{(\pm)}$  act on the scalar components of the tensor decompositions. We take the eigenfunctions  $\{\phi_i\}_{i=0}^{\infty}$  to be real and orthonormal, with the normalisation  $\langle \phi_i, \phi_j \rangle = \delta_{ij}$ .

Now let  $\left\{\phi_i^{(s)}\right\}_{i=1}^{N_{g,s}}$  with  $s \geq 1$  be a finite-dimensional orthonormal basis of holomorphic s-differentials, with the normalisation  $\left\langle\phi_i^{(s)},\phi_j^{(s)}\right\rangle = \delta_{ij}$ . As already mentioned, on a genus-g surface with  $g \geq 2$ , the Riemann–Roch theorem gives the complex dimension of the vector space of holomorphic s-differentials as

$$N_{g,s} := \begin{cases} g & \text{if } s = 1\\ (2s - 1)(g - 1) & \text{if } s > 1 \end{cases}$$
 (2.23)

We can write any holomorphic s-differential  $\tilde{T}^{(-s)} \in \mathcal{T}^{-s}$  as a complex linear combination of these  $\phi_i^{(s)}$ . Using Eq. (2.21) and the fact that  $\phi_i^{(s)}$  is in the kernel of  $\nabla^z$ , we get

$$\Delta^{(+)}\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)} = 0, \quad \Delta^{(-)}\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)} = 2s\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)}, \tag{2.24}$$

i.e., holomorphic s-differentials are eigentensors of  $\Delta^{(\pm)}$  with eigenvalues  $\lambda_{i,s}^{(\pm)} = s \mp s$ .

Now let us define

$$\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)z...z} := (g^{z\bar{z}})^s \left(\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)}\right)^*.$$
 (2.25)

Any  $\tilde{T}^{(s)} \in \mathcal{T}^s$  in the kernel of  $\nabla_z^s$  can be written as a complex linear combination of these  $\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)}$ . Using Eq. (2.21) and the fact that  $\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)}$  is in the kernel of  $\nabla_z$ , we get

$$\Delta^{(-)}\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)z...z} = 0, \quad \Delta^{(+)}\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)z...z} = 2s\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)z...z}, \tag{2.26}$$

i.e., tensors in the kernel of  $\nabla_z^s$  are eigentensors of  $\Delta^{(\pm)}$  with eigenvalues  $\bar{\lambda}_{i,s}^{(\pm)} = s \pm s$ .

It is convenient to define  $\phi_i^{(0)} \coloneqq \phi_i$  and  $\bar{\phi}_i^{(0)} \coloneqq \phi_i$  for  $i=1,2,\ldots$ , even though these eigenfunctions are not holomorphic functions. It is similarly convenient to define  $N_{g,0} \coloneqq \infty$ ,  $\lambda_{i,0}^{(\pm)} \coloneqq \lambda_i$ , and  $\bar{\lambda}_{i,0}^{(\pm)} \coloneqq \lambda_i$ . We can then write  $\phi_i^{(s)}$  with  $s \ge 0$  to collectively denote nonconstant scalar eigenfunctions and holomorphic s-differentials, where  $1 \le i \le N_{g,s}$ , and similarly for  $\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)}$ . From now on, when we write  $\phi_i^{(s)}$  or  $\bar{\phi}_i^{(s)}$ , this can include the scalar eigenfunctions, unless explicitly indicated otherwise. We also now take  $\phi_i$  to have  $i \ge 1$  unless indicated otherwise, since the zero mode  $\phi_0 = V^{-1/2}$  will be treated separately.

## 2.6 Spectral decompositions

We can combine the helicity tensor decomposition from Eq. (2.15) with the decompositions of functions in terms of  $\{\phi_i\}_{i=0}^{\infty}$  and holomorphic s-differentials in terms of  $\{\phi_i^{(s>0)}\}_{i=1}^{N_{g,s}}$  to write a tensor  $T^{(-s)} \in \mathcal{T}^{-s}$  with nonpositive helicity as

$$T_{z\dots z}^{(-s)} = \sum_{n=0}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} C_{k,n} (\nabla_z)^{s-n} \phi_{k,z\dots z}^{(n)} + \delta_{s0} C_{0,0} V^{-\frac{1}{2}}, \tag{2.27}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>Note that we use s rather than -s in the superscript for the basis of holomorphic s-differentials.

where  $C_{k,n}$  are constants that can be determined by taking inner products of each side of this equation with the pairwise orthogonal terms on the right-hand side. Similarly, using the helicity tensor decomposition from Eq. (2.19), we can write a tensor  $T^{(s)} \in \mathcal{T}^s$  with nonnegative helicity as

$$T^{(s)z\dots z} = \sum_{n=0}^{s} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \bar{C}_{k,n} (\nabla^z)^{s-n} \bar{\phi}_k^{(n)z\dots z} + \delta_{s0} \bar{C}_{0,0} V^{-\frac{1}{2}},$$
 (2.28)

where  $\bar{C}_{k,n}$  are constants that can be determined by taking inner products of each side of this equation with the pairwise orthogonal terms on the right-hand side.

## 2.7 Triple overlap integrals

We now define certain basic integrals of products of eigenmodes. Given three eigenmodes  $\phi_i^{(s_1)}$ ,  $\phi_i^{(s_2)}$ , and  $\phi_k^{(s_3)}$ , with  $s_3 \geq s_1 + s_2$ , we define the following triple overlap integral:

$$c_{ijk}^{(s_1,s_2,s_3)} \coloneqq \left\langle \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{s_3-s_1-s_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \phi_{i,z...z}^{(s_1)} (\nabla_z)^{s_3-s_1-s_2} \phi_{j,z...z}^{(s_2)} \bar{\phi}_k^{(s_3)z...z}, \tag{2.29}$$

where  $\nabla$  is the coordinate-free expression for  $\nabla_z$ . The complex conjugate of  $c_{ijk}^{(s_1,s_2,s_3)}$  is denoted by  $\bar{c}_{ijk}^{(s_1,s_2,s_3)}$ , so for  $s_3 \geq s_1 + s_2$  we have

$$\bar{c}_{ijk}^{(s_1,s_2,s_3)} = \left\langle \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{s_3-s_1-s_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)}, \phi_k^{(s_3)} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \bar{\phi}_i^{(s_1)z\dots z} (\nabla^z)^{s_3-s_1-s_2} \bar{\phi}_j^{(s_2)z\dots z} \phi_{k,z\dots z}^{(s_3)}. \tag{2.30}$$

These triple overlap integrals satisfy various relations. For example, we have

$$c_{ijk}^{(s_1,s_2,s_3)} = (-1)^{s_3-s_1-s_2} c_{jik}^{(s_2,s_1,s_3)}, \tag{2.31}$$

which implies in particular that  $c_{iij}^{(s_1,s_1,s_3)}$  vanishes when  $s_3$  is odd. The triple overlap integrals are complex in general, but  $c_{ijk}^{(0,s,s)}$  satisfies

$$c_{ijk}^{(0,s,s)} = \bar{c}_{iki}^{(0,s,s)},\tag{2.32}$$

which implies that  $c_{ijj}^{(0,s,s)}$  is real. Bounds on the asymptotic growth of the scalar overlap integrals  $c_{iik}^{(0,0,0)}$  as  $k \to \infty$  are known from analytic number theory [31–33]. Triple overlap integrals can also be constrained using bootstrap methods [14, 15], as with the conformal bootstrap bounds on operator product expansion coefficients [34].

The overlap integrals written so far do not exhaust all possibilities. There is an additional independent triple overlap integral between three distinct scalar eigenfunctions that we write as

$$\tilde{c}_{ijk} := \frac{\sqrt{-1}}{2} \left( \langle \nabla \phi_k, \phi_i \nabla \phi_j \rangle - \langle \nabla \phi_j, \phi_i \nabla \phi_k \rangle \right) = \sqrt{-1} \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \phi_i \nabla_z \phi_{[j} \nabla^z \phi_{k]}, \tag{2.33}$$

where we antisymmetrise with weight one. It is real and completely antisymmetric in its indices,

$$\bar{\tilde{c}}_{ijk} = \tilde{c}_{ijk}, \quad \tilde{c}_{ijk} = \tilde{c}_{[ijk]}. \tag{2.34}$$

This overlap integral corresponds to the parity-odd interaction  $\epsilon^{mn}\phi_i\partial_m\phi_j\partial_n\phi_k$ . With this definition, we can write

$$\langle \nabla \phi_k, \phi_i \nabla \phi_j \rangle = -\sqrt{-1}\tilde{c}_{ijk} + \frac{1}{4} \left( \lambda_j + \lambda_k - \lambda_i \right) c_{ijk}^{(0,0,0)}. \tag{2.35}$$

# 3 Consistency conditions

In this section, we show how to write down consistency conditions involving triple overlap integrals and Laplacian eigenvalues. We start by discussing integrals of products of two eigenmodes and work up to integrals of products of four eigenmodes.

#### 3.1 Norms

Consider first the integral of a product of derivatives of two eigenmodes of the same rank,

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{j}^{(s)}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s)} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV(\nabla_{z})^{\alpha} \phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)} (\nabla^{z})^{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s)z...z}, \tag{3.1}$$

where  $\alpha$  and s are nonnegative integers. We can simplify this using integration by parts and the normalisations of the eigenmodes. A useful identity for this is

$$\nabla^{z}(\nabla_{z})^{\alpha}\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)} = -\frac{1}{2}\left(\alpha(2s + \alpha - 1) + \lambda_{i,s}^{(+)}\right)(\nabla_{z})^{\alpha - 1}\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s)},\tag{3.2}$$

where  $\alpha \geq 1$  and we recall that  $\lambda_{i,s>0}^{(+)} = 0$  and  $\lambda_{i,0}^{(+)} = \lambda_i$ . This identity can be derived by repeatedly using Eq. (2.11). We can use this identity to recursively solve for the norms. For  $s \geq 1$ , we can write the result as

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{j}^{(s)}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s)} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \frac{\Gamma(\alpha+1)\Gamma(2s+\alpha)}{\Gamma(2s)} \delta_{ij},$$
 (3.3)

and for s = 0 we can write

$$\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_j, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_i \rangle = \delta_{ij} \chi_{\alpha}(\lambda_i), \quad \chi_{\alpha}(\lambda_i) := \frac{1}{2^{\alpha}} \prod_{m=0}^{\alpha-1} \left[ \lambda_i + m(m+1) \right]. \tag{3.4}$$

# 3.2 Triple products

We now consider integrals of products of derivatives of three eigenmodes of the form

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{\alpha_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \left( \nabla_z \right)^{\alpha_1} \phi_{i,z...z}^{(s_1)} (\nabla_z)^{\alpha_2} \phi_{j,z...z}^{(s_2)} (\nabla^z)^{\alpha_3} \bar{\phi}_k^{(s_3)z...z}, \tag{3.5}$$

where  $\alpha_a$  and  $s_a$  are nonnegative integers satisfying

$$\alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + s_1 + s_2 = \alpha_3 + s_3. \tag{3.6}$$

Using integration by parts, we can write Eq. (3.5) in terms of the basic triple overlap integrals defined earlier. A useful identity for doing this, which is valid when  $\alpha_1 + s_1 > 0$ ,  $\alpha_2 + s_2 > 0$ , and  $\alpha_3 > 0$ , is

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{\alpha_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle = \frac{(1 - \delta_{\alpha_1 0})}{2} \left( \alpha_1 (2s_1 + \alpha_1 - 1) + \lambda_{i, s_1}^{(+)} \right) \left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3 - 1} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1 - 1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{\alpha_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle$$

$$+ \frac{(1 - \delta_{\alpha_2 0})}{2} \left( \alpha_2 (2s_2 + \alpha_2 - 1) + \lambda_{j, s_2}^{(+)} \right) \left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3 - 1} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{\alpha_2 - 1} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle.$$

$$(3.7)$$

A useful identity when  $s_1 = \alpha_1 = 0$ , which is valid for  $\alpha_2 > 1$  and  $\alpha_3 + s_3 > 1$ , is

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \phi_i \nabla^{\alpha_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{2} \left( \alpha_2 (2s_2 + \alpha_2 - 1) + (\alpha_3 - 1)(2s_3 + \alpha_3 - 2) + \lambda_{j,s_2}^{(+)} + \bar{\lambda}_{k,s_3}^{(-)} - \lambda_i \right) \left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3 - 1} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \phi_i \nabla^{\alpha_2 - 1} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle$$

$$- \frac{(1 - \delta_{\alpha_3 1})}{4} \left( (\alpha_2 - 1)(2s_2 + \alpha_2 - 2) + \lambda_{j,s_2}^{(+)} \right) \left( (\alpha_3 - 1)(2s_3 + \alpha_3 - 2) + \bar{\lambda}_{k,s_3}^{(-)} \right) \left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3 - 2} \phi_k^{(s_3)}, \phi_i \nabla^{\alpha_2 - 2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle, \quad (3.8)$$

where we recall that  $\bar{\lambda}_{i,s>0}^{(-)}=0$  and  $\lambda_{i,0}^{(-)}=\lambda_i$ . By recursively using these identities and their complex conjugates, plus Eq. (2.35), we can write Eq. (3.5) and its conjugate in terms of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_a$  and the basic triple overlap integrals  $c_{abc}^{(s_a,s_b,s_c)}$ ,  $\bar{c}_{abc}^{(s_a,s_b,s_c)}$ , and  $\tilde{c}_{abc}$ .

# 3.3 Quadruple products

Now that we know how to reduce double and triple overlap integrals, we can explain how to obtain consistency conditions from quadruple overlap integrals. We consider integrals of products of derivatives of four eigenmodes taking the form

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_3} \phi_k^{(s_3)} \nabla^{\alpha_4} \phi_l^{(s_4)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla^{\alpha_2} \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \left( \nabla_z \right)^{\alpha_1} \phi_{i,z...z}^{(s_1)} (\nabla_z)^{\alpha_2} \phi_{j,z...z}^{(s_2)} (\nabla^z)^{\alpha_3} \bar{\phi}_k^{(s_3)z...z} (\nabla^z)^{\alpha_4} \bar{\phi}_l^{(s_4)z...z},$$
(3.9)

where  $\alpha_a$  and  $s_a$  are nonnegative integers satisfying

$$J_s := \alpha_1 + \alpha_2 + s_1 + s_2 = \alpha_3 + \alpha_4 + s_3 + s_4. \tag{3.10}$$

The idea is to write this quadruple overlap integral in terms of triple overlap integrals in multiple ways using the helicity tensor decompositions discussed earlier.

One way to rewrite the quadruple overlap integral is to first use Eq. (2.27) to expand the product  $\nabla^{\alpha_1}\phi_i^{(s_1)}\nabla^{\alpha_2}\phi_j^{(s_2)}$  on a genus-g surface as

$$(\nabla_{z})^{\alpha_{1}}\phi_{i,z...z}^{(s_{1})}(\nabla_{z})^{\alpha_{2}}\phi_{j,z...z}^{(s_{2})} = \sum_{n=0}^{J_{s}} \sum_{k'=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{\left\langle \nabla^{J_{s}-n}\phi_{k'}^{(n)}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}}\phi_{i}^{(s_{1})}\nabla^{\alpha_{2}}\phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle}{\left\| \nabla^{J_{s}-n}\phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\|^{2}} (\nabla_{z})^{J_{s}-n}\phi_{k',z...z}^{(n)} + \frac{\delta_{ij}\delta_{J_{s},0}}{V}.$$

$$(3.11)$$

We can similarly expand  $\bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_3} \bar{\phi}_k^{(s_3)} \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_4} \bar{\phi}_l^{(s_4)}$  using Eq. (2.28),

$$(\nabla^{z})^{\alpha_{3}} \bar{\phi}_{k}^{(s_{3})z...z} (\nabla^{z})^{\alpha_{4}} \bar{\phi}_{l}^{(s_{4})z...z} = \sum_{n=0}^{J_{s}} \sum_{k'=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_{3}} \phi_{k}^{(s_{3})} \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{J_{s}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\rangle}{\left\| \nabla^{J_{s}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\|^{2}} (\nabla^{z})^{J_{s}-n} \bar{\phi}_{k'}^{(n)z...z} + \frac{\delta_{kl} \delta_{J_{s},0}}{V}.$$

$$(3.12)$$

Substituting these two expansions into Eq. (3.9) then gives the decomposition of the quadruple overlap integral,

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_{3}} \phi_{k}^{(s_{3})} \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \nabla^{\alpha_{2}} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij} \delta_{kl} \delta_{J_{s}0}}{V} \\
+ \sum_{n=0}^{J_{s}} \sum_{k'=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_{3}} \phi_{k}^{(s_{3})} \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{J_{s}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\rangle \left\langle \nabla^{J_{s}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \nabla^{\alpha_{2}} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle}{\left\| \nabla^{J_{s}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\|^{2}}.$$
(3.13)

In physics terminology, this is called the s-channel decomposition of the quadruple overlap integral. Alternatively, we could first write the same quadruple overlap integral as

$$\left\langle \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_2} \bar{\phi}_j^{(s_2)} \nabla^{\alpha_4} \phi_l^{(s_4)}, \nabla^{\alpha_1} \phi_i^{(s_1)} \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_3} \bar{\phi}_k^{(s_3)} \right\rangle \tag{3.14}$$

and then expand the two products using the helicity tensor decompositions. This gives the t-channel decomposition of the integral,

$$\left\langle \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_{2}} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})} \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_{3}} \bar{\phi}_{k}^{(s_{3})} \right\rangle = \frac{\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_{3}} \phi_{k}^{(s_{3})}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \right\rangle \left\langle \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{\alpha_{2}} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle \delta_{J_{t}, 0}}{V} + \sum_{n=0}^{J_{t}} \sum_{k'=1}^{N_{g, s}} \frac{\left\langle \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_{2}} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})} \nabla^{\alpha_{4}} \phi_{l}^{(s_{4})}, \nabla^{J_{t}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\rangle \left\langle \nabla^{J_{t}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)}, \nabla^{\alpha_{1}} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha_{3}} \bar{\phi}_{k}^{(s_{3})} \right\rangle}{\left\| \nabla^{J_{t}-n} \phi_{k'}^{(n)} \right\|^{2}}, \tag{3.15}$$

where  $J_t := |s_1 + \alpha_1 - s_3 - \alpha_3|$  and we have written the expansion assuming that  $s_1 + \alpha_1 \ge s_3 + \alpha_3$ . Finally, we can exchange  $3 \leftrightarrow 4$  in the t-channel decomposition to get the u-channel decomposition.

As mentioned previously, we can write the inner products appearing in these decompositions in terms of the eigenvalues  $\lambda_a$  and the triple overlap integrals  $c_{abc}^{(s_a,s_b,s_c)}$ ,  $\bar{c}_{abc}^{(s_a,s_b,s_c)}$ , and  $\tilde{c}_{abc}$ . Equating the three decompositions, we then obtain two consistency conditions involving just eigenvalues and the basic triple overlap integrals. As an example, for the s- and t-channel decompositions of  $\langle \phi_i \nabla \phi_j^{(1)}, \phi_i \nabla \phi_j^{(1)} \rangle$  we have

$$\left\langle \phi_i \nabla \phi_j^{(1)}, \phi_i \nabla \phi_j^{(1)} \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{(\lambda_k - \lambda_i + 2)^2}{\lambda_k (2 + \lambda_k)} \left| c_{ikj}^{(0,0,1)} \right|^2 + \frac{1}{4} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,1}} (\lambda_i - 2)^2 \left| c_{ijk}^{(0,1,1)} \right|^2 + \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,2}} \left| c_{ijk}^{(0,1,2)} \right|^2, \tag{3.16}$$

$$\left\langle \bar{\nabla}\bar{\phi}_{j}^{(1)}\nabla\phi_{j}^{(1)},\phi_{i}\phi_{i}\right\rangle = \frac{1}{V} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \left(1 - \frac{\lambda_{k}}{2}\right)c_{iik}^{(0,0,0)}c_{kjj}^{(0,1,1)},$$
(3.17)

and equating these expressions gives a consistency condition.

# 4 Eigenvalue bounds

In this section, we illustrate how to use consistency conditions to derive bounds on the eigenvalues of closed hyperbolic surfaces. This approach was used to derive bounds for closed hyperbolic manifolds in general dimensions in Ref. [15], using consistency conditions coming from quadruple overlap integrals of a fixed scalar eigenfunction with up to 16 derivatives (and with up to six derivatives for closed Einstein manifolds in Ref. [14]). The approach closely follows that of the conformal bootstrap [16–18]. To derive bounds, we use the arbitrary-precision semidefinite program solver SDPB [35, 36]. We have not computed rigorous errors for our bounds, although we expect that they are correct to the stated precision and that they could be made rigorous with additional effort.

# 4.1 Bootstrap equations

To derive bootstrap bounds, we consider real quadruple overlap integrals involving at most two different eigenfunctions or holomorphic s-differentials and taking the form

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle = \int_{\mathcal{M}} dV \left( \nabla_{z} \right)^{\alpha} \phi_{i,z...z}^{(s_{1})} \phi_{j,z...z}^{(s_{2})} (\nabla^{z})^{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{i}^{(s_{1})z...z} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})z...z}, \tag{4.1}$$

where  $\alpha$ ,  $s_1$ , and  $s_2$  are nonnegative integers with  $s_1 \leq s_2$ . We also assume that  $s_2 > 0$  to avoid the additional complications present for two distinct fixed scalar eigenfunctions, but similar formulae can be written down for this case.

We can be reasonably explicit in writing down the different decompositions of Eq. (4.1). On a surface of genus g, we have the s-channel decomposition

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij} \delta_{J_{s}0}}{V} + \sum_{n=s_{1}+s_{2}}^{J_{s}} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{\Gamma(2n) \left[ \prod_{m=1}^{J_{s}-n} \left( (\alpha+1-m)(2s_{1}+\alpha-m) + \lambda_{i,n}^{(+)} \right) \right]^{2} \left| c_{ijk}^{(s_{1},s_{2},n)} \right|^{2}}{2^{J_{s}-n} \Gamma(J_{s}+n) \Gamma(J_{s}-n+1)} + \delta_{s_{1}0} \left[ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left[ \chi_{\alpha}(\lambda_{i}) \right]^{2} \left| c_{kij}^{(0,0,s_{2})} \right|^{2}}{2^{s_{1}} \chi_{J_{s}}(\lambda_{k})} + \sum_{n=1}^{s_{2}-1} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{2^{\alpha+s_{2}-n} \Gamma(2n) \left[ \chi_{\alpha}(\lambda_{i}) \right]^{2} \left| c_{kij}^{(n,0,s_{2})} \right|^{2}}{\Gamma(J_{s}+n) \Gamma(J_{s}-n+1)} \right], \tag{4.2}$$

the t-channel decomposition

$$\left\langle \phi_{j}^{(s_{2})} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\nabla}^{\alpha} \bar{\phi}_{i}^{(s_{1})} \right\rangle = \frac{1}{V} \left\| \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \right\|^{2} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} f_{s_{1}}^{(\alpha)} \left( \lambda_{i,s}^{(+)}, \lambda_{k} \right) c_{kii}^{(0,s_{1},s_{1})} c_{kjj}^{(0,s_{2},s_{2})}, \tag{4.3}$$

and the u-channel decomposition

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij} \delta_{J_{u}0} \delta_{\alpha0}}{V} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \chi_{J_{u}}(\lambda_{k}) \left| c_{kij}^{(0,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2}$$
(4.4)

if  $s_1 + \alpha \ge s_2$ , or

$$\left\langle \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})}, \nabla^{\alpha} \phi_{i}^{(s_{1})} \bar{\phi}_{j}^{(s_{2})} \right\rangle = \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{\left| c_{kij}^{(0,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2}}{\chi_{J_{u}}(\lambda_{k})} + \sum_{n=1}^{J_{u}} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \frac{2^{J_{u}-n} \Gamma(2n) \left| c_{kij}^{(n,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2}}{\Gamma(J_{u}+n)\Gamma(J_{u}-n+1)}$$
(4.5)

if  $s_1 + \alpha < s_2$ , where  $J_s := s_1 + s_2 + \alpha$ ,  $J_u := |\alpha + s_1 - s_2|$ ,  $\chi_{\alpha}(\lambda)$  are the polynomials defined in Eq. (3.4), and  $f_s^{(\alpha)}(\lambda_{i,s}^{(+)}, \lambda_k)$  is the solution to the recursion relation

$$f_s^{(\alpha)} = \frac{1}{2} \left( \alpha (2s + \alpha - 1) + (\alpha - 1)(2s + \alpha - 2) + 2\lambda_{i,s}^{(+)} - \lambda_k \right) f_s^{(\alpha - 1)}$$

$$- \frac{1}{4} \left[ (\alpha - 1)(2s + \alpha - 2) + \lambda_{i,s}^{(+)} \right]^2 f_s^{(\alpha - 2)},$$
(4.6)

$$f_s^{(1)} = s + \frac{1}{2} \left( \lambda_{i,s}^{(+)} - \lambda_k \right) + \frac{\delta_{s0}}{4} \lambda_k, \quad f_s^{(0)} = 1.$$
 (4.7)

We do not have a closed-form solution to this recursion relation or a solution to the corresponding ODE for the generating function  $\sum_{\alpha=0}^{\infty} x^{\alpha} f_s^{(\alpha)}$ , although in practice the recursion relation itself is useful for finding the consistency conditions to a given order, as in the conformal bootstrap [18].

By equating these different channel decompositions for  $\alpha = 0, 1, ..., \Lambda/2$ , where  $\Lambda$  is an even integer corresponding to the maximum number of derivatives, we obtain real consistency conditions that we can write in the following form:<sup>6</sup>

$$V^{-1}\vec{F}_{0}^{"} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \vec{F}_{0}^{'}(\lambda_{k}) c_{kii}^{(0,s_{1},s_{1})} c_{kjj}^{(0,s_{2},s_{2})} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\chi_{J}(\lambda_{k})} \vec{F}_{0}(\lambda_{k}) \left| c_{kij}^{(0,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2}$$

$$+ \sum_{n=1}^{s_{2}-s_{1}-\delta_{s_{1}0}} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n} \left| c_{kij}^{(n,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2} + \sum_{n=s_{1}+s_{2}}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n} \left| c_{ijk}^{(s_{1},s_{2},n)} \right|^{2} = 0,$$

$$(4.8)$$

where  $J := \Lambda/2 + s_1 + s_2$  corresponds to the maximum exchanged spin (in physics terminology). The quantities  $\vec{F}_0'(\lambda_k)$  and  $\vec{F}_0(\lambda_k)$  are vectors of polynomials of  $\lambda_k$ , while  $\vec{F}_0''$  and  $\vec{F}_n$  are constant vectors—all of these vectors also depend in general on the fixed integers  $s_a$  and the eigenvalue  $\lambda_i$  if  $s_1 = 0$ .

A special case of the consistency conditions (4.8) is when there is a single fixed eigenmode, i.e., when  $s_1 = s_2$  and i = j (we include here the case of a single scalar eigenfunction). We can combine the mixed consistency conditions (4.8) with those for a single fixed eigenmode  $\phi_i^{(s_1)}$  or  $\phi_j^{(s_2)}$  to get a larger system of consistency conditions of the following form:

$$V^{-1}\vec{F}_{0}^{"} + \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\chi_{J}(\lambda_{k})} \left( c_{kii}^{(0,s_{1},s_{1})} \right) \vec{F}_{0}^{"}(\lambda_{k}) \left( c_{kii}^{(0,s_{1},s_{1})} \quad c_{kjj}^{(0,s_{2},s_{2})} \right)$$

$$+ \sum_{k=1}^{\infty} \frac{1}{\chi_{J}(\lambda_{k})} \vec{F}_{0}(\lambda_{k}) \left| c_{kij}^{(0,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2} + \sum_{n=1}^{s_{2}-s_{1}-\delta_{s_{1}0}} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n} \left| c_{kij}^{(n,s_{1},s_{2})} \right|^{2} + \sum_{n=s_{1}+s_{2}}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n} \left| c_{ijk}^{(s_{1},s_{2},n)} \right|^{2}$$

$$+ \sum_{n=2(s_{1}+\delta_{s_{1}0})}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n}^{"} \left| c_{iik}^{(s_{1},s_{1},n)} \right|^{2} + \sum_{n=2s_{2}}^{J} \sum_{k=1}^{N_{g,n}} \vec{F}_{n}^{"} \left| c_{jjk}^{(s_{2},s_{2},n)} \right|^{2} = 0,$$

$$(4.9)$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>To get a complete set when  $s_1 > 0$ , we start instead from  $\alpha = 1$  and add the consistency conditions from decomposing  $\left\langle \nabla \phi_i^{(s_1)} \phi_j^{(s_2)}, \phi_i^{(s_1)} \nabla \phi_j^{(s_2)} \right\rangle$ .

where  $\vec{F}'_0(\lambda_k)$  is now a 2 × 2 matrix of polynomials of  $\lambda_k$ ,  $\vec{F}_0(\lambda_k)$  is a vector of polynomials of  $\lambda_k$ , and  $\vec{F}''_0$ ,  $\vec{F}'_n$ , and  $\vec{F}''_n$  are constant vectors, with all of these vectors again depending on the fixed quantities  $s_a$  and  $\lambda_i$  (if  $s_1$  vanishes). In Eq. (4.9), we have included the consistency conditions of a single fixed eigenmode  $\phi_a^{(s_a)}$  from quadruple overlap integrals with up to  $2(J-2s_a)$  derivatives, which ensures that J is the maximum exchanged spin for each contribution. This system of consistency conditions is easily generalised to include any number of fixed holomorphic s-differentials, and at most one scalar eigenfunction, by combining the single eigenmode consistency conditions for each fixed eigenmode with the mixed consistency conditions (4.8) for each pair of fixed eigenmodes; with N fixed eigenmodes,  $\vec{F}'_0(\lambda_k)$  is an  $N \times N$  matrix.

## 4.2 Bounds on the spectral gap

To derive an upper bound on the spectral gap  $\lambda_1$ , we assume that  $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda^*$  for some fixed number  $\lambda^*$  and then, for example, look for a linear combination of the consistency conditions (4.9) with  $s_1 > 0$  that leads to a contradiction. Specifically, if we have  $n_J$  consistency conditions for some fixed positive integer J, then we look for a vector  $\vec{\alpha} \in \mathbb{R}^{n_J}$  such that the following conditions hold:

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_0'(x) \succeq 0, \quad \forall x \ge \lambda^*,$$
 (4.10a)

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_0(x) \ge 0, \quad \forall x \ge \lambda^*,$$
 (4.10b)

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_0^{"} = 1, \tag{4.10c}$$

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_n \ge 0, \quad n \in \{1, \dots, s_2 - s_1, s_1 + s_2, \dots, J\},$$

$$(4.10d)$$

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_n' \ge 0, \quad n \in \{2s_1, 2s_1 + 2, \dots, J\},$$

$$(4.10e)$$

$$\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_n'' \ge 0, \quad n \in \{2s_2, 2s_2 + 2, \dots, J\},$$

$$(4.10f)$$

where  $\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_0'(x) \succeq 0$  means that  $\vec{\alpha} \cdot \vec{F}_0'(x)$  is a positive semidefinite matrix. If we can find such an  $\vec{\alpha}$ , then we reach a contradiction since  $\vec{\alpha}$  dotted into the left-hand side of Eq. (4.9) gives a positive quantity, which cannot equal zero. We can then conclude that our assumption that  $\lambda_1 \geq \lambda^*$  is inconsistent and hence  $\lambda_1 < \lambda^*$  for any closed hyperbolic surface. We can repeat this procedure with different values of  $\lambda^*$  to find the optimal bound for a given J. The optimal upper bound is nonincreasing with increasing J. A similar approach holds for a single fixed eigenmode or for more than two eigenmodes. The problem of finding a vector  $\vec{\alpha}$  satisfying the conditions in Eqs. (4.10) can be formulated as a semidefinite programming problem, following the approach of the conformal bootstrap [24, 37]. In this work, we use SDPB to numerically solve these semidefinite programs [35, 36], using the nondefault settings listed in Table 1.

Let us start with the case of a single fixed holomorphic s-differential. Taking J=30, which corresponds to 30-2s+1 consistency conditions, we find the upper bounds on the spectral gap shown in Table 2 for  $s \leq 6$ . These bounds do not appear to be very competitive, since the Yang–Yau bound gives  $\lambda_1 \leq 4$  for any closed hyperbolic surface. The reason is that these bounds also apply to more general spaces, such as quotients of surfaces by subsets of their discrete isometry

detectDualFeasibleJump	True
detectPrimalFeasibleJump	True
precision	1024
dualityGapThreshold	$10^{-80}$
primalErrorThreshold	$10^{-100}$
dualErrorThreshold	$10^{-100}$
initialMatrixScalePrimal	$10^{10}$
initialMatrixScaleDual	$10^{10}$
maxComplementarity	$10^{100}$

Table 1: Our settings for SDPB version 2.5.1.

groups, since the consistency conditions are closed under the restriction to singlet eigenmodes. For the bounds in Table 2 to apply to such a quotient, the original surface must admit a singlet holomorphic s-differential. For example, the smallest nondegenerate, nonzero eigenvalue of the Bolza surface is  $\lambda_{24} \approx 23.07856$  [4],<sup>7</sup> which is consistent with Table 2 if the Bolza surface does not have a holomorphic differential or holomorphic quadratic differential transforming in the trivial representation of its isometry group. The proximity of  $\lambda_{24}$  to the s=3 bound in Table 2 already suggests that the Bolza surface might be close to saturating certain bootstrap bounds.

s	Upper bound on $\lambda_1$
1	8.47032
2	15.79144
3	23.07916
4	30.35432
5	37.62320
6	44.88836

Table 2: Upper bounds on the spectral gap from consistency conditions of quadruple overlap integrals of a holomorphic s-differential with J = 30, i.e., with 60 - 4s derivatives.

To obtain a stronger upper bound, we should input additional information to forbid quotients with large gaps that are not closed surfaces. An approach that works well is to consider consistency conditions coming from quadruple overlap integrals with multiple fixed holomorphic s-differentials. Consider the mixed consistency conditions with two distinct holomorphic differentials, i.e., the consistency conditions in Eq. (4.9) with  $s_1 = s_2 = 1$  and  $i \neq j$ . This assumption is consistent with any closed hyperbolic surface since a genus-g surface has g independent holomorphic differentials

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>Although the first 23 nonzero eigenvalues appear to be degenerate eigenvalues to high numerical precision [4], in principle there could be accidental near degeneracies. See Refs. [38, 39] for work towards proving that the first two nontrivial eigenspaces have dimensions three and four, respectively.

and  $g \ge 2$ . For J = 50, which corresponds to 196 consistency conditions, we obtain the numerical upper bound

$$\lambda_1 \le 3.8388977. \tag{4.11}$$

This should be compared to the spectral gap of the Bolza surface  $\lambda_1 \approx 3.8388873$  [4]. Since the bootstrap bound is almost saturated by the Bolza surface, this provides strong evidence for the conjecture that the Bolza surface is the closed hyperbolic surface with the largest spectral gap [4].

By considering a system of consistency conditions with  $g_0$  distinct holomorphic differentials, we can obtain bounds that are valid for closed hyperbolic surfaces with genera  $g \ge g_0$ . We obtain the following results for  $g_0 \le 7$ , which we compare to the best known bounds:

- For  $g_0 = 3$ , we find  $\lambda_1 \leq 2.678483$  with J = 30, corresponding to 261 consistency conditions.<sup>8</sup> This is close to the spectral gap of the Klein quartic, which is the closed genus-3 surface with the largest symmetry group and has  $\lambda_1 \approx 2.678$  [6, 39].<sup>9</sup> The rigorous bound of Ref. [7] gives  $\lambda_1 \leq 2(4 \sqrt{7}) \approx 2.71$  for g = 3.
- For  $g_0 = 4$ , we find  $\lambda_1 \leq 2.17$  with J = 10, corresponding to 144 consistency conditions. This is weaker than the Yang-Yau bound, which gives  $\lambda_1 \leq 2$  for g = 4. The most symmetric closed hyperbolic surface of genus 4 is Bring's surface, which has  $\lambda_1 \approx 1.9$  [39].
- For  $g_0 = 5$ , we find  $\lambda_1 \le 1.86$  with J = 10, corresponding to 225 consistency conditions. The rigorous bound of Ref. [8] gives  $\lambda_1 \le (47 \sqrt{977})/8 \approx 1.97$  for g = 5.
- For  $g_0 = 6$ , we find  $\lambda_1 \le 1.67$  with J = 10, corresponding to 324 consistency conditions. This is weaker than the Yang–Yau bound, which gives  $\lambda_1 \le 1.6$  for g = 6.
- For  $g_0 = 7$ , we find  $\lambda_1 \le 1.55$  with J = 10, corresponding to 441 consistency conditions. The rigorous bound of Ref. [8] gives  $\lambda_1 \le (33 \sqrt{543})/6 \approx 1.62$  for g = 7.

These results show that bootstrap methods can also produce strong bounds for surfaces of larger genera.

# 5 Conclusions

We have shown how to derive consistency conditions for closed hyperbolic surfaces coming from quadruple overlap integrals with arbitrarily many derivatives and involving holomorphic s-differentials. These improve on the explicit consistency conditions for closed hyperbolic manifolds found in Ref. [15], which had fixed scalar eigenfunctions and at most 16 derivatives, albeit at the cost of restricting to two dimensions. With these additional consistency conditions, it is possible to derive more powerful bootstrap bounds. One example we showed was a nonrigorous numerical upper bound on the spectral gap of a closed orientable hyperbolic surface that is stronger than the Yang–Yau bound for genus 2 and is nearly saturated by the Bolza surface.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>We were aware of the analogous result of Ref. [27] when we first derived this bound.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>The last digit here is deduced from results of the FreeFem++ code of Ref. [39], using meshes on the fundamental polygon with up to n = 110 triangles along each side.

There is much more that could be investigated in the future. In two dimensions, one could try to learn more about the closed hyperbolic surfaces that are close to saturating bootstrap bounds, e.g., by using the extremal functional method from the conformal bootstrap [40]. It would be interesting to try to develop analytic bootstrap techniques and to explore the large-genus regime. It would also be interesting to consider consistency conditions coming from quadruple overlap integrals of tensors in higher dimensions, especially in three dimensions.

Acknowledgements: I would like to thank Anthony Ashmore, Kurt Hinterbichler, and Alex Maloney for helpful discussions. I am supported by the research program VIDI with Project No. 680-47-535, which is partly financed by the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research (NWO). This work has been partially supported by STFC consolidated grant ST/T000694/1.

# References

- [1] P. Buser, Geometry and Spectra of Compact Riemann Surfaces. Progress in mathematics. Springer, 1992.
- [2] P. Yang and S. Yau, "Eigenvalues of the Laplacian of compact Riemann surfaces and minimal submanifolds," Annali Della Scuola Normale Superiore Di Pisa-classe Di Scienze 7 (1980) 55–63.
- [3] A. El Soufi and S. Ilias, "Le volume conforme et ses applications d'après Li et Yau," Séminaire de théorie spectrale et géométrie 2 (1983-1984).
- [4] A. Strohmaier and V. Uski, "An Algorithm for the Computation of Eigenvalues, Spectral Zeta Functions and Zeta-Determinants on Hyperbolic Surfaces," Communications in Mathematical Physics 317 (2013) no. 3, 827–869, arXiv:1110.2150 [math.SP].
- [5] R. Aurich and F. Steiner, "Periodic-orbit sum rules for the Hadamard-Gutzwiller model," Physica D: Nonlinear Phenomena 39 (1989) no. 2, 169–193.
- [6] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, A. Ashmore, and C. Cordova, "Calabi-Yau CFTs and Random Matrices," arXiv:2107.11461 [hep-th].
- [7] A. Ros, "On the first eigenvalue of the laplacian on compact surfaces of genus three," Journal of the Mathematical Society of Japan (2021), arXiv:2010.14857 [math.DG].
- [8] M. Karpukhin and D. Vinokurov, "An improved Yang-Yau inequality for the first Laplace eigenvalue," arXiv:2106.00627 [math.DG].
- [9] H. Huber, "Über den ersten Eigenwert des Laplace-Operators auf kompakten Riemannschen Flächen," Commentarii mathematici Helvetici **49** (1974) 251–259.

- [10] W. Hide and M. Magee, "Near optimal spectral gaps for hyperbolic surfaces," arXiv:2107.05292 [math.SP].
- [11] P. Buser, "Riemannsche Flächen mit Eigenwerten in (0,1/4)," Commentarii Mathematici Helvetici  $\mathbf{52}$  (1977) 25–34.
- [12] M. Lipnowski and A. Wright, "Towards optimal spectral gaps in large genus," arXiv:2103.07496 [math.GT].
- [13] Y. Wu and Y. Xue, "Random hyperbolic surfaces of large genus have first eigenvalues greater than  $\frac{3}{16} \epsilon$ ," arXiv:2102.05581 [math.DG].
- [14] J. Bonifacio and K. Hinterbichler, "Bootstrap Bounds on Closed Einstein Manifolds," JHEP 10 (2020) 069, arXiv:2007.10337 [hep-th].
- [15] J. Bonifacio, "Bootstrap Bounds on Closed Hyperbolic Manifolds," arXiv:2107.09674 [hep-th].
- [16] R. Rattazzi, V. S. Rychkov, E. Tonni, and A. Vichi, "Bounding scalar operator dimensions in 4D CFT," JHEP 12 (2008) 031, arXiv:0807.0004 [hep-th].
- [17] V. S. Rychkov and A. Vichi, "Universal Constraints on Conformal Operator Dimensions," Phys. Rev. D 80 (2009) 045006, arXiv:0905.2211 [hep-th].
- [18] D. Poland, S. Rychkov, and A. Vichi, "The Conformal Bootstrap: Theory, Numerical Techniques, and Applications," Rev. Mod. Phys. 91 (2019) 015002.
- [19] T. Hartman, D. Mazáč, and L. Rastelli, "Sphere Packing and Quantum Gravity," JHEP 12 (2019) 048, arXiv:1905.01319 [hep-th].
- [20] N. Afkhami-Jeddi, H. Cohn, T. Hartman, D. de Laat, and A. Tajdini, "High-dimensional sphere packing and the modular bootstrap," JHEP 12 (2020) 066, arXiv:2006.02560 [hep-th].
- [21] N. Benjamin, S. Collier, A. L. Fitzpatrick, A. Maloney, and E. Perlmutter, "Harmonic analysis of 2d CFT partition functions," arXiv:2107.10744 [hep-th].
- [22] J. Bonifacio and K. Hinterbichler, "Unitarization from Geometry," JHEP 12 (2019) 165, arXiv:1910.04767 [hep-th].
- [23] G. B. De Luca, N. De Ponti, A. Mondino, and A. Tomasiello, "Cheeger bounds on spin-two fields," arXiv:2109.11560 [hep-th].
- [24] F. Kos, D. Poland, and D. Simmons-Duffin, "Bootstrapping Mixed Correlators in the 3D Ising Model," JHEP 11 (2014) 109, arXiv:1406.4858 [hep-th].
- [25] A. Dymarsky, J. Penedones, E. Trevisani, and A. Vichi, "Charting the space of 3D CFTs with a continuous global symmetry," JHEP **05** (2019) 098, arXiv:1705.04278 [hep-th].

- [26] A. Dymarsky, F. Kos, P. Kravchuk, D. Poland, and D. Simmons-Duffin, "The 3d Stress-Tensor Bootstrap," JHEP **02** (2018) 164, arXiv:1708.05718 [hep-th].
- [27] P. Kravchuk, D. Mazáč, and S. Pal, "Automorphic Spectra and the Conformal Bootstrap," arXiv:2111.xxxxx.
- [28] O. Alvarez, "Theory of Strings with Boundaries: Fluctuations, Topology, and Quantum Geometry," Nucl. Phys. B **216** (1983) 125–184.
- [29] E. D'Hoker and D. H. Phong, "On determinants of Laplacians on Riemann surfaces," Communications in Mathematical Physics **104** (1986) no. 4, 537–545.
- [30] E. D'Hoker and D. H. Phong, "The geometry of string perturbation theory," Rev. Mod. Phys. **60** (1988) 917–1065.
- [31] P. Sarnak, "Integrals of products of eigenfunctions," International Mathematics Research Notices 1994 (1994) no. 6, 251–260.
- [32] Y. N. Petridis, "On squares of eigenfunctions for the hyperbolic plane and a new bound on certain L-series," International Mathematics Research Notices 1995 (1995) no. 3, 111–127.
- [33] J. Bernstein and A. Reznikov, "Analytic continuation of representations and estimates of automorphic forms," Annals of Mathematics **150** (1999) 329–352.
- [34] F. Caracciolo and V. S. Rychkov, "Rigorous Limits on the Interaction Strength in Quantum Field Theory," Phys. Rev. **D81** (2010) 085037, arXiv:0912.2726 [hep-th].
- [35] D. Simmons-Duffin, "A Semidefinite Program Solver for the Conformal Bootstrap," JHEP **06** (2015) 174, arXiv:1502.02033 [hep-th].
- [36] W. Landry and D. Simmons-Duffin, "Scaling the semidefinite program solver SDPB," arXiv:1909.09745 [hep-th].
- [37] D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin, and A. Vichi, "Carving Out the Space of 4D CFTs," JHEP **05** (2012) 110, arXiv:1109.5176 [hep-th].
- [38] F. Jenni, "Über den ersten Eigenwert des Laplace-Operators auf ausgewählten Beispielen kompakter Riemannscher Flächen," Commentarii mathematici Helvetici **59** (1984) 193–203. http://eudml.org/doc/139972.
- [39] J. Cook, Properties of eigenvalues on Riemann surfaces with large symmetry groups. PhD thesis, Loughborough U., 2018. https://hdl.handle.net/2134/36294.
- [40] S. El-Showk and M. F. Paulos, "Bootstrapping Conformal Field Theories with the Extremal Functional Method," Phys. Rev. Lett. 111 (2013) no. 24, 241601, arXiv:1211.2810 [hep-th].